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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this rep01t is to identify the person or persons criminally responsible for the 
twenty-seven homicides that occUlTed in Newtown, Connecticut, on the morning of December 
14, 2012, to detetmine what crimes were committed, and to indicate if there will be any state 
prosecutions as a result of the incident. 

The State's Attorney for the Judicial District of DanbUiy is charged, pursuant to Alticle IV, 
Section 27 of the Constitution of the State of Connecticut and Connecticut General Statutes 
(C.G.S.) Sec. 51-276 et seq., with the investigation and prosecution of all criminal offenses 
occUlTing within the Judicial District of DanbUiy. The Connecticut State Police have the 
responsibility to prevent and detect violations of the law and this State's Attorney has worked 
with and relied upon the Connecticut State Police since the incident occUlTed. 

Since December 14, 2012, the Connecticut State Police and the State's Attorney's Office have 
worked with the federal authorities sharing responsibilities for various aspects of this 
investigation. Numerous other municipal, state and federal agencies assisted in the investigation. 
The investigation materials reflect thousands of law enforcement and prosecutor hours. Apart 
fi:om physical evidence, the materials consist of more than seven-hundred individual files that 
include rep01ts, statements, interviews, videos, laborat01y tests and results, photographs, 
diagrams, search warrants and returns, as well as evaluations of those items. 

In the course of the investigation, both state and federal law enforcement personnel received a 
large number of contacts purpo1ting to provide information on the shootings and the shooter. 
Although many times these "leads" would go nowhere, each one was evaluated and often 
required substantial law enforcement time to pursue. All abundance of caution was used during 
the investigation to ensure that all leads were looked into, despite the fact that more than 40 such 
"leads" proved, after investigation, to be unsubstantiated. Infotmation that was substantiated and 
relevant was made part of the investigation. 

It is not the intent of this report to convey every piece of information contained in the 
voluminous investigation materials developed by the Connecticut State Police and other law 
enforcement agencies, but to provide infotmation relevant to the purposes of this repo1t. While 
no repott is statutorily required of the State's Attorney once an investigation is complete, it has 
been the practice of State's Attorneys to issue repo1ts on criminal investigations where there is 
no atTest and prosecution if the State's Attorney dete1mines that some type of public statement is 
necessary. Given the gravity of the crimes committed on December 14, 2012, arep01t is in order. 

On the moming of December 14, 2012, the shooter, age 20, heavily armed, went to Sandy Hook 
Elementmy School (SHES) in Newtown, where he shot his way into the locked school building 
with a Bushmaster Model XM15-E2S rifle. He then shot and killed the principal and school 
psychologist as they were in the n01th hallway of the school responding to the noise of the 
shooter coming into the school. The shooter also shot and injured two other staff members who 
were also in the hallway. 
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The shooter then went into the main office, apparently did not see the staff who were hiding 
there, and rehtmed to the hallway. 

After leaving the main office, the shooter then went down the same hallway in which he had just 
killed two people and entered first grade classrooms 8 and 10, the order in which is unknown. 
While in those rooms he killed the two adults in each room, fifteen children in classroom 8 and 
five in classroom 10. All of the killings were done with the Bushmaster rifle. 

He then took his own life with a single shot from a Glock 20, 10 mm pistol in classroom 10. 

Prior to going to the school, the shooter used a .22 caliber Savage Mark II rifle to shoot and kill 
his mother in her bed at the home where they lived at 36 Yogananda Street in Newtown. 

The response to these crimes began unfolding at 9:35:39 a.m. when the first 911 call was 
received by the Newtown Police Department. With the receipt of that call, the dispatching and 
the arrival of the police, the law enforcement response to the shootings began. It was fewer than 
fom minutes from the time the first 911 call was received until the first police officer arrived at 
the school. It was fewer than five minutes from the first 911 call, and one minute after the auival 
of the first officer, that the shooter killed himself. It was fewer than six minutes from the time the 
first police officer arrived on SHES property to the time the first police officer entered the school 
building. In fewer than 11 minutes twenty first-grade pupils and six adults had lost their lives. 

The following weapons were recovered in the comse of this investigation: (1) a Bushmaster 
Model XM15-E2S semi-automatic rifle, found in the same classroom as the shooter's body. All 
of the 5.56 mm shell casings from the school that were tested were found to have been fired from 
tllis rifle. (2) a Glock 20, 10 mm semi-automatic pistol fotmd near the shooter's body and 
dete1mined to have been the source of the self-inflicted gunshot wound by which he took his own 
life. (3) a Sig Sauer P226, 9 mm semi-automatic pistol found on the shooter's person. There is no 
evidence this weapon had been fired. (4) a Izhmash Saiga-12, 12 gauge semi-automatic shotgun 
found in the shooter's car in the parking lot outside the school, and which was seemed in the 
vellicle's trunk by police responding to the scene. There is no evidence this weapon had been 
fired. (5) a Savage Mark II rifle fotmd at 36 Yogananda Street on the floor of the master 
bedroom near the bed where the body of the shooter's motl1er was found. This rifle also was 
found to have fired the four bullets recovered dming the autopsy ofthe shooter's mother. 

All of the firerums were legally pmchased by the shooter's mother. Additionally, anmmnition of 
the types found had been pmchased by the mother in the past, and there is no evidence that the 
ammunition was pmchased by anyone else, including the shooter. 

At the date of this writing, tl1ere is no evidence to suggest that anyone other than the shooter was 
aware of or involved in the planning and execution of the crimes that were committed on 
December 14, 2012, at Sandy Hook Elementmy School and 36 Yogananda Street. From the time 
ru1 unknown male was encountered by the Newtown police outside of the school dming the 
initial response, tmtil well after the staff and children had been evacuated, the thought that there 
may have been more than one shooter was a condition all responding law enforcement worked 
under as they cleared the school. Individuals located in the wooded ru·eas sUITounding the school 
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as the searches and evacuations were taking place were initially treated as suspect and handled 
accordingly (including being handcuffed) until their identity could be detem1ined. The 
circumstances sunounding all of these individuals were fully investigated and revealed no 
additional shooters. DNA testing of evidence recovered from both the school and 36 Yogananda 
Street also revealed no potential accessories or co-conspirators. 

It is the conclusion of this State's Attorney that the shooter acted alone and was solely criminally 
responsible for his actions of that day. Moreover, none of the evidence developed to date 
demonstrates probable cause to believe that any other person conspired with the shooter to 
commit these crimes or aided and abetted him in doing so. 

Unless additional - and at this time unanticipated - evidence is developed, there will be no state 
criminal prosecution as result of these crimes. With the issuance of this report, the investigation 
is closed. Should additional reliable information related to the existence of accessories or co­
conspirators come to the attention of the investigators, the investigation will be reopened. 2 

In the course of his rampage the shooter committed a number of crimes in violation of our 
Connecticut Penal Code. The most significant are those where lives were taken and people were 
physically injured. In Sandy Hook Elementruy School, the crime of Murder under Special 
Circumstances, in violation of C.G.S. Sec. 53a-54b, was committed twenty-six times and 
Attempted Murder under Special Circumstances in violation of C.G.S. Sees. 53a-49 and 53a-54b 
was committed twice as it relates to the two individuals who were shot by the shooter ru1d 
survived. The crime ofMurder in violation ofC.G.S. Sec. 53a-54 was committed by the shooter 
in killing his mother. 

The obvious question that remains is: "Why did the shooter murder twenty-seven people, 
including twenty children?" Unfortunately, that question may never be answered conclusively, 
despite the collection of extensive background info1mation on the shooter through a multitude of 
interviews and other sources. The evidence cleru·ly shows that the shooter planned his actions, 
including the taking of his own life, but there is no cleat· indication why he did so, or why he 
tru·geted Sandy Hook Elementruy School. 

It is known that the shooter had significant mental health issues that affected his ability to live a 
normal life and to interact with others, even those to whom he should have been close. As an 
adult he did not recognize or help himself deal with those issues. What contribution this made to 
the shootings, if at1y, is unknown as those mental health professionals who saw him did not see 
anything that would have predicted his future behavior. He had a fatniliru·ity with and access to 
firerums and ammunition and an obsession with mass murders, in pmticulru· the April 1999 
shootings at Columbine High School in Colorado. Investigators however, have not discovered 
any evidence that the shooter voiced or gave any indication to others that he intended to commit 
such a crime himself. 

2 It should be noted that potentially imp011ant evidence, i.e., a computer hard drive re.covered from the shooter's 
home, as of this date remains unreadable. Additional insight could be gained should efforts to recover data fi·om the 
hard drive ever prove successful, which at this time appears highly improbable. It is because of this improbability, 
coupled with the cwTent determination of no accessories or co-conspirators that the case is being closed. 
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This State's Attorney expresses his sincere sympathy and condolences to the victims of the 
incident of December 14, 2012, and to their fan1ilies. He also expresses his appreciation for their 
continued patience and understanding during the course of the investigation and preparation of 
this report. He acknowledges and thanks law enforcement, which responded to Sandy Hook 
Elementruy School in minutes and entered the building believing someone could be there ready 
to take their lives as well. He also acknowledges and thanks the staff of the Sandy Hook 
Elementruy School who acted heroically. The combination saved many children's lives. 

This repott would not have been possible if not for the assistance and cooperation of numerous 
agencies at the state, local and federal levels of government. The State's Attorney expresses his 
sincere gratitude and appreciation to all of these agencies and to all of the men and women who 
contributed so much to this investigation. The assistance of federal authorities has been 
invaluable. Particularly worthy of special note ru·e the men and women of the Connecticut State 
Police, and in pruticulru·, the Western District Major Crime Squad. The thoroughness and 
sensitivity with which they conducted their investigation is Ulllllatched in my experience. 
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INTRODUCTION 

On the morning of December 14, 2012, Adam Lanza, the shooter,3 age 20, went to Sandy Hook 
Elementruy School (also SHES) in Newtown, Connecticut, where he shot his way into the 
building and killed twenty children and six adults and wounded two other adults, all with a 
Bushmaster Model XM15-E2S rifle. The shooter then took his own life with a single shot from a 
Glock 20, 10 mm handgun. From the time the doors of the school were locked at 9:30a.m. until 
the time it is believed the shooter killed himself at 9:40:03, fewer than 11 minutes had elapsed. 

Prior to going to the school, the shooter used a .22 caliber Savage Mru·k II rifle to shoot and kill 
his mother in her bed. This occurred at the home where they lived at 36 Yogananda Street, also 
in Newtown. 

With these unprecedented horrific crimes came a responsibility for an investigation to detennine 
what crimes were committed and, more importantly, if the shooter acted alone. Any person who 
aided and abetted the shooter or who conspired with him had to be held accountable. 

Beginning on December 14, 2012, the Connecticut State Police and the State's Attorney's Office 
worked in cooperation with the federal authorities shru·ing responsibilities for various aspects of 
the case. The federal involvement has been invaluable. Though some evidence is still being 
examined, there is no indication in the investigation by either state or federal authorities to date 
that the shooter acted with anyone on December 14, 2012, or had co-conspirators or accessories 
who could be prosecuted. 

In addition to physical evidence,4 the investigation materials contain over seven-hundred 
individual files that include rep01ts, statements, interviews, videos, laboratory tests and results, 
photographs, diagrams, search wru-rants and search warrant retmns as well as evaluations of 
those items. Investigators interviewed individuals who were present at SHES on December 14, 
2012, and witnessed the incident, among them students, staff members, parents of students and 
neighbors. Special attention and consideration was given to the interviewing of child witnesses, 
given their traumatic experience. Also interviewed were police officers and other first responders 
who were present at SHES dming the comse of the incident itself and in the course of the 
subsequent search, evacuation of the school and processing of the scenes. 

Investigators attempted to obtain as much information about the shooter's life as possible in an 
effort to detetmine the reasons or motives for his actions on December 14, 2012. Interviews were 
conducted with members of the shooter's family, those who knew the shooter or his family 
throughout his life, as well as teachers and school personnel who had been involved with him 
and his family over his time in Newtown. 

Efforts were made within the limits of privacy laws to gather information on medical 
consultations and/or treatments the shooter was involved with over the comse of his years in 
Newtown. In doing so, investigators found no evidence to suggest the shooter had taken any 

3 Throughout the remainder of this report Adam Lanza will be refened to as "the shooter." 

4 Over 270 evidence designations were used, many grouping related items as one number. 
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medication that would affect his behavior or by any means to explain his actions on December 
14, 2012. 

An investigation of this magnitude requires careful planning and review. The interviews took 
substantial time, first to identify which individuals should be interviewed and then to conduct the 
actual intetviews. Physical evidence had to be examined and forensically reviewed. This 
included ballistics, fmgetprint and DNA analysis. Additionally, all of the infmmation collected 
had to be reviewed and summarized in written statements that have since become a part of the 
investigation, reflecting thousands of dedicated law enforcement and prosecutor homs. 

I had been working closely with the Connecticut State Police, who conducted the state 
investigation, and federal law enforcement officers since December 2012. Once the 
investigation was delivered for my review, I took the time to read, digest, evaluate and 
summarize the material, mindful of the privacy interests involved and the approaching December 
14, 2012, anniversruy. 

The federal authorities have stated that under federal law many of their reports and materials 
crumot become part of the public record due to mles regarding the dissemination of infmmation 
obtained pmsuru1t to grand jury subpoenas, sealed search wruTants, and federal Freedom of 
Infmmation law. Therefore, infmmation obtained by federal authorities will not, for the most 
prut, be incmporated into the Connecticut State Police criminal investigation file. 

While the reports and materials will not be part of the state investigation record, such materials 
have been examined and considered by state law enforcement authorities. Based upon a review 
of all of the documentation, both state a11d federal, we are left confident at this time that the 
evidence developed to date does not reveal co-conspirators or accessories. Accordingly, as a 
result of the investigation to date, there will be no state criminal prosecution of ru1yone. 

PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF REPORT 

The State's Attorney's Office for the Judicial District of Danbury is chru·ged, pursuant to Alticle 
IV, Sec. 27 of the Connecticut State Constitution5 and Connecticut General Statutes (C.G.S.) 
Sec. 51-2766 et seq., with the investigation and prosecution of all criminal offenses occmTing 
within the Judicial District of Danbmy. The Connecticut State Police have the responsibility to 
prevent and detect violations of the law and this State's Attorney has worked with a11d relied 
upon the Connecticut State Police since the incident occuned. The investigation has been 

5 CoiUlecticut Constitution Aiticle 4, Sec. 27. There shall be established within the executive department a division 
of criminal justice which shall be in charge of the investigation and prosecution of all criminal matters. Said 
division shall include the chief state's attomey, who shall be its administrative head, and the state's attomeys for each 
judicial district, which districts shall be established by law. The prosecutorial power of the state shall be vested in a 
chief state's attomey and the state's attomey for each judicial district. 

6 Sec. 51-276. Division established. There is hereby established the Division of Criminal Justice within the 
Executive Depattment, which shall be in charge of the investigation and prosecution of all criminal matters in the 
Superior Cowt. The Division of Criminal Justice shall be an agency within the Executive Depattment with all 
management rights except appointment of all state's attomeys. 
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tirelessly conducted by the Connecticut State Police (also CSP) with the assistance of multiple 
local, state and federal agencies, both in and out of Connecticut. 

While no report is statutorily required of the State's Attomey once the investigation is complete, 
it has been the practice of state's attomeys to issue repoxts on criminal investigations where there 
is no anest and prosecution if the state's attomey detexmines that some type of public statement 
is necessa1y.7 Given the gravity of the crimes committed on December 14, 2012, a report is in 
order. 

The purpose of this repoxt is to identify the person or persons criminally responsible for the 
twenty-seven homicides that occurred in Newtown, Connecticut, 8 on the moming of December 
14, 2012, to detexmine what crimes were committed, and to indicate if there will be any state 
prosecutions as a result of the incident. 

Many witnesses to this case have expressed great concem that their identities will be disclosed 
publicly and make them susceptible to threats or intimidation as a result of their cooperation or 
connection with the investigation.9 This cooperation has been essential and greatly appreciated. 
As a result of the witnesses' concems, this repmt will not identify lay witnesses, except where 
necessary. 

Consistent with Public Act 13-311,10 exceptions to the state Freedom of Infmmation Act11 and 
C.G.S. Sec. 17a-l 0 lk(a) 12 this repoxt will not list the nan1es of the twenty children killed in 

7
See for example: Statement of David I. Cohen, State' s Attorney for the Judicial District of Stamford/Norwalk, in 

reference to the FebJUary 16, 2009, attack on Charla Nash by the Chimpanzee Named Travis, Issued December 7, 
2009; Statement of the State's Attorney for the Judicial District of Stamford-Norwalk Concerning the Fatal Fire on 
December 25, 2011, at 2267 Shippan Avenue, Stamford, Issued Jtme 8, 2012 ; and Report of the State' s Attorney for 
the Judicial District of Ansonia-Milford on the Murder of Shangyl Rasim on January 17, 2010, Issued May 24, 
2010. 

8 Newtown, Connecticut is within the Judicial District of Danbury. 

9 In fact, some witnesses have had that occm to them. 

10 An Act Limiting the Disclosure of Certain Records of Law Enforcement Agencies and Establishing a Task Force 
Concerning Victim Privacy Under the Freedom oflnformation Act. 

11 See C.G.S. Sec. 1-210. 

12 Sec. 17a-101k. Registry of findings of abuse or neglect of children maintained by Commissioner of Children and 
Families. Notice of finding of abuse or neglect of child. Appeal of finding. Hearing procedure. Appeal after hearing. 
Confidentiality. Regulations. (a) The Commissioner of Children and Families shall maintain a registry of the 
commissioner' s findings of abuse or neglect of children pursuant to section 17a-101g that conforms to the 
requirements of this section. The regulations adopted pursuant to subsection (i) of this section shall provide for the 
use of the regislly on a twenty-four-hom daily basis to prevent or discover abuse of children and the establishment 
of a hearing process for any appeal by a person of the commissioner's determination that such person is responsible 
for the abuse or neglect of a child pursuant to subsection (b) of section 17a-101g. The infonnation contained in the 
regislly and any other information relative to child abuse, wherever located, shall be confidential, subject to such 
statutes and regulations governing their use and access as shall conform to the requirements of federal law or 
regulations. Any violation of this section or the regulations adopted by the commissioner under this section shall be 
punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or imprisonment for not more than one year. 
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Sandy Hook Elementary School, nor will it recite 911 calls made from within the school on that 
morning or describe information provided by witnesses who were in the classrooms or heard 
what was occmTing in the classrooms. 

It is not the intent of this report to convey every piece of infmmation contained in the 
volmninous investigation materials developed by the Connecticut State Police and other law 
enforcement agencies, but to provide information relevant to the purposes of this report. 

To conclude that all such inf01mation, including the basic facts of the incident itself is confidential would prohibit 
even the disclosm-e of the children being killed. Such an intetpretation would be tmworkable and is not taken here. It 
is concluded though that the C.G.S. Sec. 17a-10lk(a) is applicable in the present case and will be applied in the 
matmer described. 
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SANDY HOOK ELEMENTARY SCHOOL- INCIDENT AND RESPONSE 

Incident 

On the moming of December 14, 2012, the shooter parked his 2010 Honda Civic next to a "No 
Parking" zone outside of Sandy Hook Elementary School in Newtown, Connecticut. 13 Shortly 
after 9:30 a.m. he approached the front entrance to the school. 14 He was atmed with a 
Bushmaster Model XM15-E2S rifle (also Bushmaster rifle), a Glock 20, 10 mm pistol atld a Sig 
Sauer P226, 9 mm pistol and a lm·ge supply of ammunition. 

The doors to the school were locked, as they customarily were at this time, the school day having 
already begun. The shooter proceeded to shoot his way into the school building through the plate 
glass window to the right of the front lobby doors. 

The main office staff rep01ted hearing noises and glass breaking at approximately 9:35 a.m. and 
saw the shooter, a white male with a hat and sunglasses, come into the school building with a 
rifle type gun. The shooter walked normally, did not say anything and appem·ed to be breathing 
n01mally. He was seen shooting the rifle down the hallway. 

Just down the hallway from the main office, in the direction that the shooter was to be seen 
firing, a 9:30 a.m. Plaillling and Placement Team (PPT) meeting was being held in room 9, a 
conference room. It was attended by Principal Dawn Hochspmng and School Psychologist Mary 
Sherlach, together with a parent and other school staff. Sh01tly after the meeting started, the 
attendees heard loud banging. The principal and school psychologist then left the room followed 
sh01tly after by a staff member. After leaving the room, Mrs. Hochspmng yelled "Stay put!" 

As the staff member left the room, the staff member heard gunshots and saw Mrs. Hochsprung 
and Mrs. Sherlach fall down in front of the staff member. The staff member felt a gunshot hit the 
staff member's leg. Once down, the staff member was stJ.uck again by additional gunfire, but laid 
still in the hallway. Not seeing anyone in the hallway, the staff member crawled back into room 
9 and held the door shut. A call to 911 was made and in the ensuing moments the telephone in 
room 9 was also used to hu·n on the school wide intercom system. This appem·s to have been 
done inadvertently, but provided notice to other portions of the building. 15 

13 
On December 13, 2012, the student enrollment was 489. Official attendance had not yet been recorded as of9:30 

a.m. on December 14, 2012. The staff for the school is 91 , but on December 14, 2012, there were nine staff 
members absent. The staffing was at 82 for the day. 

14 A more complete description of the school building and the fi-ont entrance struts on page A 119 of the Appendix. 
For the pmposes of this rep01t, the front of SHES faces n01th. 

15 Intercom system could be accessed fi-om nine phones located in seven rooms. These telephones and rooms were 
three phones in the main office, the principal's office, the nurse's office (room 57), room 9 conference room, room 
29, room 32 and room 60. The "All Call" which opens the intercom to the entire school was accessed by pressing 
"#0" from the telephones mentioned. The All Call-except quiet rooms was accessed by pressing "#1." 
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At the same time the shooter was firing in the hallway, another staff member was at the far east 
end of the hallway near classroom 1. The staff member was struck by a bullet in the foot and 
retreated into a classroom. 

Both Dawn Hochsprung, age 47, and Mary Sherlach, age 56, died as a result of being shot. Both 
wmmded staff members shot in the hallway were later evacuated to the hospital and survived. 

After shooting and killing the two adults and wounding the two others, the shooter entered the 
main office. The office staff had taken shelter in the office. They heard sounds of the office door 
opening, footsteps walking inside the office and then back toward the office door. Staff members 
heard the door open a second time and then heard more gunfire from outside the office. They 
called 911. 

Where the shooter specifically went next is unclear. The evidence and witness statements 
establish the shooter went down the hallway in an easterly direction ultimately entering first 
grade classrooms 8 and 10. The order is not definitively known. While in classrooms 8 and 10, 
the shooter shot and killed four adults and twenty children with the Bushmaster rifle. Twelve 
children smvived, one fiom classroom 8 and eleven from classroom 10. 

The shooter fmally killed himself in classroom 10 with one fm1shot to his head from a Glock 20, 
10 mm pistol. This is believed to have occurred at 9:40:03. 1 

Classroom 8' s substitute teacher was Lauren Rousseau, age 30, who was assisted by Rachel 
D'Avino, age 29, a behavioral therapist. Fifteen children were found by police. Fomteen who 
were deceased and one who was transported to Danbmy Hospital and later pronounced dead. 
The two adults were fom1d deceased close to the children. In all, seventeen people were killed in 
classroom 8. A sixteenth child survived and exited classroom 8 after the police anived. 

Classroom 10's teacher was Victoria Soto, age 27. Working with her was Anne Marie Murphy, 
age 52, a behavioral therapist. Five children were found, with Mrs. Murphy partially covering 
one child. Four of the five children were deceased. One of the five children was transported to 
the hospital and pronounced dead. Miss Soto was fom1d deceased in the room near the north wall 
with a set of keys nearby. Nine children had run out of the room and smvived. A police officer 
found two uninjured children in the class restroom. 

In all, eighteen children and six adult school staff members were found deceased within the 
school. Two more children were pronounced dead at Danbmy Hospital. Two other adult school 
staff members were injured and were treated at nearby hospitals and survived. 

The two classrooms on either side of 8 and l 0 were numbered 6 and 12. Classroom 6 was on the 
eastern side of classroom 8 and classroom 12 was on the western side of classroom 10. Staff and 
students hid in the class restrooms, locking the restroom doors from the inside. 

16 See the time line in the Appendix starting at page A84. 
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Throughout the rest of the school, staff and students hid themselves wherever they happened to 
be at the time they became aware of gunfire. The staff used various ways to keep the children 
calm, from reading to having them color or draw pictures. Those hiding in rooms closest to the 
shooter kept silent. Some people were able to escape out of the building prior to the police a.nival 
and went to Sandy Hook center, nearby residences, or received rides from parents going to the 
school or from passersby. 

One staff member heard a loud crashing noise and ran toward the front lobby. As the staff 
member got closer, bullet holes could be seen and gun powder smelled. Realizing what was 
going on, the staff member immediately called 911, huned and went back down the hall from 
where the staff member had come. During the incident, while staying on the line with the 911 
operator, this staff member sent other staff to their rooms or had them stay in their rooms and 
this staff member went about locking doors. The staff member remained in the hallway on the 
telephone with the 911 operator until the police anived. 

Response 

Upon the receipt of the first 911 call, law enforcement was immediately dispatched to the school. 
It was fewer than four minutes fi·om the time the first 911 call was received until the first police 
officer anived at SHES. It was fewer than five minutes fi·om the time the first 911 call was 
received until the shooter killed himself. It was fewer than six minutes from the time the first 
police officer arrived on SHES property to the time the first police officer entered the school 
building. 

Below is an abbreviated time line fi·om the first 911 call received to the time the police entered 
the school building. 17 

9:35:39- First 911 call to Newtown Police Department is received. 

9:36:06 - Newtown Police Department dispatcher broadcasts that there is a shooting at 
Sandy Hook Elementary School. 

9:37:38- Connecticut State Police are dispatched to SHES for active shooter. 

9:38:50- CSP are infmmed that SHES is in lockdown. 

9:39:00- First Newtown police officer anives behind SHES on Crestwood Rd. 

9:39:13 - Two more Newtown officers arrive at SHES and park on the driveway near the 
ball field. Gunshots are heard in the background. 

17 See page A84 of the Appendix for full time line put together by the Connecticut State Police Western District 
Major Crime Squad. This time line was compiled from 911 calls, witness statements, police car cameras, police 
radio and police dispatch transmissions. 
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9:39:34- Newtown officer encounters unknown male mnning along the east side of 
SHES with something in his hand. 

9:40:03 - Last gunshot is heard. This is believed to be the final suicide shot from the 
shooter in classroom 10. 

9:41:07- Infmmation is relayed as to the location of the last known gunshots heard 
within SHES, the front of the building. 

9:41:24- Newtown officer has unknown male prone on ground, struting infmmation 
relay regarding possibly more than one shooter. 

9:42:39- Newtown officer calls out the license plate of the shooter ' s car. 

9:44:47 - Newtown officers enter SHES. 

9:46:23 - CSP anive at SHES. 

9:46:48 - CSP enter SHES. 

As the gravity of the situation became known, local, state and federal agencies responded to the 
scene to assist. 

From the time the unknown male was encountered by the Newtown police outside of SHES until 
after the staff and children were evacuated, all responding law enforcement operated under the 
belief that there may have been more than one shooter and acted accordingly.18 

For example, K-9 units were brought in to search the area and officers were posted to act as 
lookouts to ensure the safety of those evacuating the school building. Some people were located 
in the areas smTounding the school as the searches and evacuations were taking place. Some of 
those individuals were treated initially as suspects and handled accordingly, including being 
handcuffed, until their identities and reason for being there could be determined. 

Some of these detentions included: 

1. The initial unknown male who tm11ed out to be a parent with a cell telephone in his 
hand; 

2. Two reporters located in the woods around SHES, who were held at gun point by 
Department of Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP) police officers tmtil 
their identities could be determined; and 

3. A man from New York who was working in a nearby town and went to SHES after 
an application on his cell telephone alerted him to the situation at the school. He 
drove to the firehouse and went up to the school on foot. He was taken from the scene 

18 
In fact, the possibility that there was more than one shooter remained a consideration beyond December 14, 2012. 

It was only after potential leads were investigated that investigators became confident that the shooter was not aided 
in any way by others and that no one knew of the shooter's plan prior to December 14, 2012. 
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of the school in handcuffs and later to Newtown Police Department. It was later 
detetmined that he did not have a connection to the shooting and had gone to SHES to 
see what was going on. 

As noted above, on December 14, 2012, there was a concern that there may have been more than 
one shooter. This was based upon a number of factors: 

1. The initial police encotmter with the unknown male outside SHES;19 

2. Reports by school personnel during the shooting on a 911 call of seeing someone 
running outside the school while the shooting was ongoing; 

3. The location of two black zip up sweat jackets on the ground outside of the shooter's 
car; 

4. The discovety of an Izhmash Saiga-12, 12 gauge shotgun and ammunition in the 
passenger compartment of the shooter's car. A police officer moved this shotgtm and 
ammunition to the car's trunk for safety purposes; 

5. Shell casings that were located outside of the school; and 
6. The apparent sound of gunfire coming from outside of the school; 

The subsequent investigation revealed there were no additional shooters based upon: 

1. Searches of the area and examinations of local business security surveillance videos; 
2. Persons detained revealed they were not connected to the shootings. In the case of the 

initial unknown male, he was identified as the parent of a student and had a cell 
telephone, rather than a. weapon, in his hand; 

3. Witness interviews which indicated that no witness saw anyone other than the 
shooter, with a firearn1; 

4. Witness interviews in which it was detennined that a number of SHES staff had 
escaped from the school through a window and had been running outside the school 
building during the shootings; 

5. The shotgun located in the shooter's car had been purchased by the shooter's mother 
previously; 

6. The two sweat jackets were both C-Sp01t brand black zip up hooded sweat jackets 
with no size listed and were located immediately outside the shooter's car;20 Both are 
believed to have been brought there by the shooter;21 

7. The live shotgun shells (other than the one found on the shooter and the ones found in 
the shooter's car) that were located inside and outside of the school were in locations 
where first responders had been. Additionally, there were first responders who 

19 The man was later determined to be the parent of one of the school's children and the item in his hand was a cell 
telephone. 

20 See the Appendix at page Al74. 

21 A parent who an·ived at SHES as the shooting was taking place saw the shooter's car parked in fi-ont of the school 
with the passenger side door open and the two sweat jackets on the ground near the car. To the parent, the jackets 
looked like two black blankets on the ground. 
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reported missing live shotgun rounds. Moreover, the shells were found in locations 
where there had not been reported sightings of any non-law enforcement individuals; 

8. There were no expended shotgun shells found in the actual crime scene nor were any 
expended 12 gauge shotgun pellets or slugs recovered; 

9. The only expended casings located outside of the school building were 5.56 mm 
casings located just outside the school's fi·ont entrance, consistent with the shooter 's 
entry into the school; and 

10. The officer who heard what he believed to be outside gunfire was in a position to 
have heard the shooter 's gunfire coming fi·om window openings in the classroom in 
which the shooter was firing. 

Stopping the active shooter was the first priority. Once that occuned, the location and tr·eatment 
of the victims, the search for additional shooters, and the safe evacuation of the school were of 
primaty importance.Z2 The collection of evidence and the preservation and documentation of the 
crime scene, while important, came second. 

Two command centers were set up, one at the firehouse on Riverside Road and the other at 
Newtown's Emergency Operations Center, located on the Newtown Fairfield Hills Campus. In 
the week immediately after the shootings, setvices to victims' families and victims, as well as 
support to the investigators in the school were handled out of the firehouse. All other aspects of 
the investigation not related to the school itself were nm out of the Emergency Operations 
Center. 

Investigation responsibilities were handled as follows ? 3 

Connecticut State Police (CSP) 

CSP-Western District Major Crime (WDMC) squad was the lead CSP unit for the 
entire investigation and acted as the coordinating law enforcement agency for other 
agencies and units of the CSP.24 The van unit processed the interior of SHES. 

CSP-Central District Major Crime (CDMC) squad van unit processed the exterior of 
SHES, including the shooter's em·, and established the temporaty morgue25 with the 

22 One of the difficulties encountered was the inability of state police radios to operate within SHES. 

23 This report does not include a listing of all of the law-enforcement and non-law enforcement service providers and 
their actions. In the days and weeks that followed the tragedy, local, state and federal agencies provided help to the 
Tov\111 of NewtoV\111 and its families tlu·ough cotmseling, funeral protection, traffic control, handling bomb threats as 
well as many other services. Additionally, the CSP set up an invaluable law enforcement liaison program with the 
families of the deceased victims in which a state or local police officer was specifically assigned to the family of a 
deceased victim to provide communication and protection in the days and weeks that followed December 14th. 

24 WDMC Squad and Van, as the lead CSP unit, over the course of the week that followed was there for seven days 
processing the interior scene, the shooter and victims' personal effects, including assisting with the packing and 
removal of fumiture from the immediate scene. 

25 The Department of Public Health provided and set up the p011able tent used for the temporary morgue. 
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OCME to identify and docwnent the decedents prior to their being moved to the OCME 
in Farmington?6 CDMC also attended the autopsies at the OCME and did a secondruy 
seru·ch of36 Yogananda Street, as well as photographing doors and locks in SHES. 

Eastern District Major Crime (EDMC) squad processed the scene at 36 Yogananda 
Street and were the investigators for the shooting ofNancy Lru12a, the shooter's mother. 

CSP-Emergency Services Unit (ESU), Tactical Teams, were assigned to both SHES 
and 36 Yogananda Street to handle the clearing of the scenes and rendering them safe? 7 

CSP- Troop A, Southbury and CSP from other troops and units, in addition to being 
first responders, worked to secure the scene and worked with WDMC and the OCME. 

Computer Crimes and Electronic Evidence Unit handled the seizure and exrunination 
of additional electronic evidence from 36 Yogananda Street together with EDMC, 
CDMC and WDMC. 

CSP - Collision, Analysis and Reconstruction Squad (CARS) was assigned to produce 
the sketch maps for both the interior and exterior of the school. 

CSP- On December 14, 2012, virtually eve1y aspect of the CSP was engaged in the 
response to SHES and 36 Yogananda Street. For example, included in the first responders 
were troopers and detectives, not only from Troop A in Southbmy, but other troops and 
units as well, including the Statewide Narcotics Task Force. 

Department of Energy and Environmental Protection (DEEP) provided first responders at 
SHES. 

Forensic Science Laboratory, Division of Scientific Senrices, Department of Emergency 
Services and Public Protection (DESPP) examined items seized and collected fiom SHES and 
36 Yogananda Street. 

Office of the Chief Medical Examiner (OCME) was responsible for investigating the cause 
ru1d manner of the deaths involved in this case and worked with the CSP in setting up the 
temporruy morgue at SHES that was used to identify and document the deceased prior to their 
being moved to Fatmington. 

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF) in addition to responding to 
both scenes, worked on the firearms aspect of the investigation. 

26 WDMC and CDMC personnel were also assigned and paired with the FBI to conduct interviews and 
neighborhood canvasses as well as assist with the identification of victims, investigate a report of another shooter at 
a hospital, as well as prepare search warrants and attend autopsies. 

27 There were numerous law enforcement agencies that worked on the clearing of SHES and the protection of those 
who were doing the clearing. 
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Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) - in addition to responding to the scenes, handled 
intetviewing of witnesses and investigation both at a local level and on a national level. The 
Tactical Team assisted with the clearing of the school. The Behavioral Analysis Unit (BAU), as 
part of the search warrant execution for 36 Yogananda Street, was provided with materials for 
review. They provided their expertise in the preparation of witness intetviews. The Victim 
Assistance Unit worked with victims' families, victims and witnesses. 

United States Attorney's Office was stationed at the Emergency Operations Center overseeing 
the investigation into the possible commission of federal crimes and the issuance of federal legal 
process, as well as coordinating the various federal agencies involved in assisting with the state 
investigation. 

United States Marshals Service, Technical Operations Group provided technical and 
investigation assistance. 

United States Postal Service looked for mail that may have been relevant to the investigation. 

Municipal Police Departments from around the state assisted throughout the Town of 
Newtown, including being first responders at SHES, handling calls in town and the tremendous 
inflow of media and visitors to the Town in the weeks after December 14, 2012. 

Newtown Police Department in addition to being first responders, worked to secure the scene 
and assisted WDMC. 

Office of the State's Attorney, Judicial District of Danbury (SAO) - oversaw the state 
investigation, working with the Connecticut State Police. Together with the assistance of the 
Office of the Chief State' s Attorney, the SAO was stationed at the Emergency Operations Center 
starting December 14, 2012, and oversaw the legal issues and state aspect of the investigation 
including search wanant review, child witness issues, working with the federal authorities, etc. 

SANDY HOOK ELEMENTARY SCHOOL- SCENE INVESTIGATION 

On the afternoon of December 14, 2012, the WDMC and CDMC van units began documenting 
the crime scene and collecting evidence. The units could not begin this process until the scene 
was declared safe. The scene processing took seven days. 

The scene was thoroughly processed, with the WDMC van tmit handling the interior of SHES 
and the CDMC van unit covering the exterior. This processing included extensive written 
documentation as well as taking videos and thousands of photographs and measurements. In 
addition to the recovery of evidence, bullet trajectories were analyzed and documented. 

My description of the scene processing struts with the front entrance and moves into the school 
building itself. This does not necessru·ily reflect the actual order in which the crime scene was 
processed. Many descriptions come directly from the investigation reports but ru·e not in 
quotation mru·ks to ease reading. 
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The conditions of windows and doors were documented, but some may have been distmbed by 
police and emergency personnel dming the emergency response and protective sweep of the 
building. Similarly, other items of evidence, such as shell casings, may not have been found in 
their original positions because, as mentioned previously, the first priority was to locate and 
neutralize any active shooter, followed by the location and treatment of the victims, the search 
for additional shooters and the safe evacuation of the school. Only then could evidence collection 
begin. 

Interior 

Sandy Hook Elementary School was28 a one sto1y brick public school building of approximately 
66,000 square feet, built in 1954. The building was on Dickinson Drive off of Riverside Road in 
the Sandy Hook section of Newtown. The front of the building sat in a magnetic no1theast 
direction, but will be considered north for the purposes of this report. See the diagram at page 19. 

SHES was rectangular in shape with fom hallways in the main building and po1table classrooms 
attached to the rear (south) side which were accessed from the south side of the main building. 
Classrooms on the exterior walls had even numbers and interior classrooms had odd numbers. 

Main entrance 

The main entrance to the school was located next to the large glass window that the shooter shot 
out to enter the school. A patio area was just before the entrance doors. The entrance to the lobby 
consisted of two sets of locked full glass doors that opened outwardly using a pull handle. They 
were separated by a small vestibule. The doors were seemed with an electronic locking 
mechanism. The doors could be opened from the inside with a horizontal push bar across the 
middle of the door. 

The broken area of the window that the shooter shot out measmed approximately 35.33 inches 
wide and 42.5 inches high.29 

The exterior of the main entrance door way had a call box, buzzer system with a video camera. 
The call box was installed in 2005. The video camera did not record, but the video could be 
viewed live on three monitoring systems on the secretaries' desks in the main office, with no 
recording capabilities. The electronic unlocking of the front doors was done by using a "key 
button" on any of the three monitoring systems. 

Glass shards were located just before and to the side of the outside entrance doors on the patio 
and plantings in the area and also on the floor in the lobby.30 Eight expended brass colored 5.56 

28 SHES was demolished in October and November 2013. 

29 See the Appendix starting at page A168. 

30 See the Appendix at page A 169 and A 171. 
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nun bullet casings stamped with "S&B 60 5.56x45"31 were located in the area outside the broken 
window and front entrance doors. These were seized. 

The front entrance led into the school's lobby. The lobby measmed approximately 28 feet notih 
to south and 36 feet east to west. The southeast comer of the lobby allowed open access to the 
n01ih hallway of the school. Sixteen brass colored expended 5.56 mm bullet casings were located 
on the floor within the lobby area and were seized. Fmniture in the lobby area had holes 
consistent with having been struck by a bullet. There were eleven damaged areas consistent with 
bullet strikes in the lobby. 

North Hallway 

The hallway on the n01ih side of the building, where the shootings occmTed, ran east to west and 
contained the lobby and main office, inside of which was the nmse's office. The hallway also 
contained rooms numbered 1-10, 11A-5 and 12. The bulk of the scene processing occmred in 
this area. See the diagram on page 19. 

The ceiling as in the lobby was 8 feet high. And the width of the hall was 8.5 feet. The even 
numbered rooms were on the n01ih side of the hallway with classroom 12 being the westem most 
classroom and classroom 2 being the eastem most. The odd numbered rooms were on the south 
side of the hallway with the main office being the western most room and classroom 1 being the 
eastem most. East of the main office was a closet labeled " llA-5 storage" and the east of the 
closet was a conference room identified as Room 9. 

The doors in the hallway all locked from the outside with a key. The interior door handles had no 
locking mechanism. All of the doors opened outwardly toward the hallway. All doors were solid 
wood with a circular window in the upper half of the door. 32 

All classrooms in the n01ih hallway had a restroom and a closet. The restrooms were unifotmly 
designed, approximately 4 feet 7 inches by 3 feet 6 inches with a solid wood door. The door of 
each restroom opened inward and away from the toilet. Each restroom door had a knob push 
button lock on the inside handle and a key lock on the outside handle. 33 The conference room did 
not have a restroom. 

Classrooms in the notih hallway 12 and 10, 8 and 6, 6 and 4, and 3 and 5 respectively had an 
interior door that was shared by the two classrooms. 

31 The ammunition used by the shooter in the Bushmaster rifle has been described as .223 caliber, 5.56 mm NATO 
and 5.56 X 45. All of these descriptions are for similar bullets (cartridges) that can be fired fiom the Bushmaster 
rifle. The ammunition that the shooter used in this case for the Buslunaster bore the stamp "S&B 60 5.56 X 45" on 
the base of the cartridges and v.rill be refe!Ted to as a 5.56 mm rotmd. The distinction between a .223 cal. and a 5.56 
mm is not relevant to this rep01t. 

32 See the Appendix at page Al 78 for an example of classroom door locks. 

33 See the Appendix at page A 177 for an example of restroom door locks. 
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The bodies of Mrs. Hochspnmg and Mrs. Sherlach were located in the western-most area of the 
north hallway, near the lobby. One brass colored expended 5.56 mm casing was located and 
seized from the floor in the area of Mrs. Hochspmng and Mrs. Sherlach.34 In addition to the 5.56 
mm ballistics, one 10 mm shell casing was found in the north hallway and was later identified as 
having been fired from the Glock 20, 10 mm pistol found near the shooter. 

Conference Room (Room 9) 

Conference room 9 was on the south side of the north hallway on the opposite side of the 
hallway and approximately 16 feet east of the door for classroom 12. The room had a telephone 
mounted in the center of the west wall. 

Classroom 12 

Classroom 12 was located on the north side of the north hallway and was the first classroom east 
of the front lobby. The classroom door was located 23 feet east of the lobby. The window to the 
door was covered on the hallway side with dark colored paper that was there fi·om a previous 
lockdown drill. 

Classroom 10 

Classroom 10 was located on the no1th side of the north hallway and was the second classroom 
east of the front lobby. The hallway door was approximately 27 feet east of classroom 12. The 
window was not completely covered, but did have a decoration over part of the inside of the 
window. 

The room measmed 27 feet east to west and 30 feet nmth to south with carpeted floors and 
painted cinder block walls. There were large windows across the north wall, which provided a 
view into the front (north) parking lot. Fluorescent ceiling lights tumed on automatically when 
the room was entered. As mentioned previously, there was a restroom in the room and a closet. 
This closet door had no lock. The door that provided access to classroom 12 was on the center of 
the west wall. This had a key lock on both sides and the door was unlocked. There was a 
telephone mounted on the south side of the east wall north of the closet. An Emergency 
Response Packet Plan was hanging on the south wall. The packet was above a map depicting the 
emergency evacuation route for this classroom. 

The classroom door that opened into the north hallway could only be locked with a key from the 
outside (hallway side). The door was unlocked with no signs of forced entiy. 

In the window area for classroom 10 there were no less than nine holes consistent with being 
bullet holes. Investigators conducted a trajectory analysis of the shots that went through the 
window area of classroom 10. No dete1mination could be made as to whether the shots through 
the window area were intended for the outside of the building. In other words, it could not be 
dete1mined whether the shooter, while in classroom 10, had intentionally fired at something or 

34 See the Appendix struting at page Al30 for a description of the ballistics evidence from the north hallway. 

20 



someone outside of the building. There was no indication that any shots through the window area 
of classroom 10 came from outside of the school. All of the evidence indicates that shots went 
out of the window area of classroom 10 and into the parking area north of the school. 

Classroom 10 evidence is fmther described below. 

Classroom 8 

Classroom 8 was located on the north side of the n01th hallway and was the third classroom east 
of the front lobby, with its entrance door approximately 27 feet east of classroom 10. As with the 
others, its classroom door opened out into the hallway and could only be locked from the 
hallway side with a key. The window was not covered. The classroom door to the hallway was 
unlocked with no signs of forced ent1y. 

The room dimensions and constmction were similar to those of classrooms 10 and 12. There was 
also a restroom in this classroom. The closet door in classroom 8 had no locking device. There 
were also large glass windows across the n011h wall providing a view into the front (n011h) 
parking lot of the school. There was a wall telephone in the room on the south side of the east 
wall, north of the closet. An "Emergency Response Plan" packet was hanging on the south wall 
adjacent to the east side of the entrance door. This packet was above a map depicting the 
emergency evacuation route for the classroom. 

The door that connected into classroom 6 was on the north side of the east wall, had key locks on 
both sides of the door. The door was unlocked. 

Ballistic evidence located in classroom 8 is described in the Appendix at page Al34, which 
includes a total of twenty-four rounds of 5.56 mm ammunition found, of which ten rounds were 
in one PMAG 30 magazine, thirteen rounds were in another such magazine and one live rmmd 
was on the floor. There was a third empty PMAG 30 magazine seized. There were a total of 
eighty expended 5.56 mm casings seized from classroom 8. 

Classrooms 6 and 4 

Located on the floor of classroom 6 was one live round "Federal Tactical" 12 gauge shotgun slug 
shell (Exhibit 49). This shotgun shell was made of clear-like plastic and was different in color 
from the shotgun shell that was seized on the shooter's person. On the floor of classroom 4 was a 
blue colored 12 gauge slug shotgtm shell with the word "Federal Premium Tactical Rifled slug" 
stamped on the side and " 12 GA Made in USA stamped on the head of the shell (Exhibit 99). 
This shotgun shell was made of a blue colored plastic and also was different in color from the 
shotgun gun shell that was seized from the shooter 's person. 

As mentioned previously, the loose shotgun shells not found on the shooter were in locations 
where first responders had been and had rep01ted missing shotgun shells. Additionally, there 
were no witness reports of any persons being seen with firerums other than first responders in 
those locations, there were no expended shotgun shell casings or projectiles recovered at the 
scene and the live shotgun shell on the shooter' s person and those recovered from his car did not 
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match any of those recovered from the three locations. No shotgun was recovered from the 
school. It is believed that these live shells were dropped by first responders. 

Shooter 

Responding police officers found the shooter in classroom 10 northwest of the hallway entrance 
dead from a self-inflicted gunshot wound to the head. He was wearing a pale green pocket vest 
over a black polo style sh011 sleeve shi11 over a black t-shi11. He had yellow colored earplugs in 
each ear. He was wearing black cargo pocket pants, black socks, black sneakers, a black canvas 
belt and black fmgerless gloves on each hand. He had an empty camouflage drop holster that was 
affixed to his right thigh. 

After all of the victims were removed from the school, the shooter's body was removed once all 
firerums rutd ballistic evidence were recovered from his person. The body was moved to the 
OCME on December 15, 2012. 

Weapons on Shooter and Ammunition in Classroom 10 

The weapons on the shooter together with a description of items seized related to the shooting 
ru·e contained in the Appendix stru1ing at page Al36. On the shooter's person was a loaded semi­
automatic Sig Sauer P226, 9 nun pistol and additional runmunition. Located near the shooter was 
a prutially loaded Glock 20, 10 mm semi-automatic pistol that apperu·ed to be januned. 

A Buslunaster Model XM15-E2S rifle was located some distance away from the shooter. The 
rifle's shoulder strap was attached in the front but disconnected at the butt of the rifle. The 
disconnected rear p011ion was the result of a failed nut attachment. It is unknown if the nut failed 
while the rifle was being used or as the result of being dropped or tlu·own to the floor. 

The Bushmaster rifle was found with the safety in the "fire" position. There was one live 5.56 
mm round in the chamber and one PMAG 30 magazine in the magazine well. The magazine 
contained fourteen live 5.56 mm rOtmds of anununition. The rifle did not appear to have 
malfunctioned when observed by the WDMC van unit, but a CSP-ESU rep01t described the 
weapon as appearing to have jammed. When tested later, the rifle functioned properly. 

Two empty PMAG 30 magazines that were duct-taped together in a tactical configuration and 
one live 5.56 mm round were found near the rifle. 

Officers found two-hundred-fifty-tlu·ee live rotmds on the shooter 's body: one-hundred-sixteen 9 
mm rounds, seventy-five rounds of 10 mm, sixty-one rounds of 5.56 mm and one 12 gauge 
shotgun shell. Officers also seized f011y-six 5.56 mm live rounds. This consisted of fifteen from 
the rifle, one from the floor and thirty from the magazine under the body of the shooter, as well 
as thi11een 10 mm live rounds (nine from the Glock and four from the floor). There were f011y­
nine expended 5.56 nm1 casings seized and one 10 nun casing from classroom 10. Total live 
rounds seized were three-htmdred-twelve and total expended casings seized from classroom 10 
were fifty. 
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Exterior 

CDMC processed the exterior of SHES. 

Shooter's Car 

The shooter's car was fmmd parked in front of the school, west of the fi:ont entrance, next to a 
"No Parking" zone. It was a black 2010 Honda Civic with Connecticut registration 872YEO. 
The car was registered to his mother, Nancy Lanza, but had been purchased for him. 

Recovered from the car was an Izhmash Saiga-12, 12 gauge shotgun with two magazines 
containing a total of twenty rounds of ammunition. 35 The shotgun and ammunition were 
originally seen in the passenger compru1ment of the cru· and were moved by police to the cru·'s 
trunk for safekeeping during the initial response and evacuation. 

Parking Lot 

There were a number of cars parked in the north pru·king lot of SHES. Three of these cars were 
snuck by gunfire. None of the cru·s snuck belonged to law enforcement. A total of five sn·ikes to 
those three cru·s were identified as having come from classroom 10. It could not be dete1mined 
whether these shots were intended to go outside of the classroom. 

Also found in the north pru·king lot, was a shotgun shell that was dropped by a first responder. 

SANDY HOOK ELEMENTARY SCHOOL- AUTOPSY INFORMATION 

Deceased victims were removed from the school building to a lru·ge militmy-style tent located in 
the north parking lot, near the fi·ont of the schooL The Office of the Chief Medical Exruniner 
sought to make positive identification of the victims through photos, school records and personal 
and clothing descriptions. 

On Saturday, December 15, 2012, all of the v1ct1ms were trru1spo1ted to the OCME in 
Farmington for autopsies; autopsies were performed the srune day. The cause of death for all of 
the victims was dete1mined to have been gunshot wounds; the manner of death was determined 
to have been homicide. 36 

Evidence collected during the autopsies was turned over to CDMC and forwru·ded to the Division 
of Scientific Services for exrunination. The Evidence Exrunination section of this report contains 
a summary of the results. 

35 A search wanant was obtained for the car. The search wanant retwn originally reported the amount of 
ammunition as seventy rounds. This was conected to twenty rotmds and the search warrant return was amended. 

36 Our law defines homicide as the killing of one human being by another human being. 
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36 YOGANANDA STREET, NEWTOWN, CT- INCIDENT AND RESPONSE 

Incident 

Sometime on the moming of December 14, 2012, before 9:30 a.m., the shooter shot and killed 
his mother, Nancy Lanza, in her bed at 36 Yogananda Street, Newtown. The weapon used was a 
.22 caliber Savage Mark II rifle. Someone in the area repmted hearing "two or three" gunshots in 
the neighborhood between 8:00a.m. and 9:00a.m. That person thought them to be from hw1ters, 
though the person indicated the shots did "smmd tmusually close." 

Between 9:30 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. there was a delivery made to the house. The delive1y driver 
saw no one, did not see any vehicles in the driveway and the garage door was closed. A delivery 
slip was left and the driver continued on. 

The mother was found by police dead in her bed when they entered the house. The rifle was 
found on the floor next to the bed. 

Response 

Once it was determined that the shooter's car was registered to his mother at 36 Yogananda 
Street, Newtown, Connecticut, the Newtown police went to the house and evacuated the 
surrounding homes. The CSP-ESU came to the scene to clear the residence of potential hazards, 
such as booby traps or trip wires. 

36 YOGANANDA STREET, NEWTOWN, CT- SCENE INVESTIGATION 

After the body of the shooter's mother was found and the scene declared safe, the process of 
obtaining search wanants for the house began, with the first warrant being reviewed and signed 
by a judge of the Superior Cowt at 5:29 p.m. on December 14, 2012, at the Emergency 
Operations Center. 3 7 

Additional search wanants were approved and issued as the search disclosed additional 
evidence. The investigation of the shooter's mother' s killing and the scene processing was done 
by EDMC and the search for evidence at 36 Yogananda Street related to the shootings at SHES 
was investigated by both CDMC and WDMC. A list of the items seized from the home is 
contained in the search warrant returns in the Appendix, with some descriptions in the "Digital 
hnage Repmt," struting at page A188 in the Appendix.38 

37 The Judicial Branch and the Honorable John F. Blawie are to be commended for their response to the SHES 
shootings. Judge Blawie was available at the Emergency Operations Center to review search wanants. 

38 A description of the home is also in the Appendix starting at page A 181. 
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The weapon used to kill Nancy Lanza, the .22 caL Savage Mark II rifle, was found near her bed 
and seized. In the chamber of the rifle was a spent .22 caL shell casing and three live rounds were 
in the magazine. Three other spent .22 caL shell casings were found in the room and seized. 

The shooter's second floor bedroom windows were taped over with black trash bags. The second 
floor computer room also had its windows covered. There, investigators found a computer hard 
drive that appeared to have been intentionally damaged. To date, because of the extensive 
damage, forensic experts have not yet been able to recover any information from that hard drive. 

In a typical criminal case, the investigation would remain open when potentially imp01tant 
evidence was still being examined. Given the improbability of any information being recovered 
from the damaged hard drive, this outstanding piece of evidence is not preventing the closme of 
this case now. Should any relevant inf01mation related to the existence of any accessory or co­
conspirator be obtained from the hard drive, the case will be reopened. 

Investigators found a large number of firearms and related items in the home. All frrerums 
involved in these incidents were legally purchased by the shooter's mother over the yeru·s. The 
home also contained many edged weapons, knives, swords, speru·s, etc. A prescription bottle in 
the shooter's nan1e for acetan1inophen with codeine was found in the mother's bathroom, which 
was part of the master bedroom. 

Dming the seru·ch of 36 Yogananda Street, a global positioning system (GPS) device was located 
in the shooter's room with various routes in the memory from April25, 2012, through December 
13, 2012. Investigation revealed that the GPS was pmchased for the shooter. 

The routes taken indicate a number of trips from 36 Yoganru1da Street to the ru·ea of a local 
theater where a commercial version of the game "Dance Dance Revolution" is located. Over that 
time period, 1Tips were made that took the driver in the vicinity of some schools in Newtown, 
including SHES. On December 13, 2012, a trip was recorded fi·om 2:09 p.m. to 2:32 p.m. 
struting and ending on Y ogananda Street and driving in Sandy Hook, which is in the ru·ea of 
SHES, though the route does not indicate the shooter drove up to the schooL 

Numerous video games were located in the basement computer/gaming ru·ea. The list of video 
games includes, but is not limited to: 

-"Left for Dead" -"Grand Theft Auto" 
-"Metal Geru· Solid" -"Shin Megami Tensei" 
-"Dead Rising" -"Dynasty W ruTiors" 
-"HalfLife" -"Vice City" 
-"Battlefield" -"Team Fortress" 
-"Call of Duty" -"Doom" 
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Other items found and noted for this repoxt are: 

A Christmas check from the mother to the shooter to pmchase a CZ 83 firearm;39 

A New York Times axticle from Febmaxy 18, 2008, regax·ding the school shooting at 
Northern Illinois University; 
Three photographs of what appeax· to be a dead human, covered in blood and wrapped in 
plastic; 
The book Amish Grace: How Forgiveness Transcended Tragedy, Jossey-Bass, 2007, by 
Donald B. Kraybill, Steven Nolt and David Weaver-Zercher;40 and 
Photocopied newspaper articles from 1891 pextaining to the shooting of school children 

While the vast majority of persons interviewed had no explanation for the shooter's actions, a 
review of electronic evidence or digital media that appeared to belong to the shooter, revealed 
that the shooter had a preoccupation with mass shootings, in paxticulax· the Columbine 
shootings4 1 and a strong interest in frreaxms. For example, there was a spreadsheet with mass 
mmders over the years listing infoxmation about each shooting. 

The review of the electronic evidence also found many things that are on a typical hax·d drive or 
memoxy cax·d that would probably have no relevance to the investigation either because of 
creation date or subject matter. That being said, the following selected topics or items were 
found within the digital evidence seized: 

Bookmarks pertaining to frrearms, militaxy , politics, mass mmder, video games, music, 
books, Almy Ranger, computers and programs, ammunition, candy, economic books 
Web page design folders 
Two videos showing suicide by gunshot 
Commercial movies depicting mass shootings 
The computer game titled "School Shooting" where the player controls a character who 
enters a school and shoots at students 
Screen shots ( 172) of the online game "Combat Arms" 
"Dance Dance Revolution" (DDR) gan1e screen shots 
Videos of shooter playing DDR 
Images of the shooter holding a handgun to his head 
Images of the shooter holding a rifle to his head 
Five-second video ( dran1atization) depicting children being shot 
Images of shooter with a rifle, shotgun and numerous magazines in his pockets 
Documents on weapons and magazine capacity 

39 The retum for the December 16, 2012, search wan·ant indicates that Exhibit #612 was a check for a "C183." A 
closer inspection of the check makes it clear that "CZ83" is written. A CZ 83 is a type of pistol. 
The check reads "Clu-istmas Day" in the check's date section. 

40 In October 2006 a gunman entered a one-room Amish school in Pennsylvania, killed five children and leaving 
others wounded. 

41 The Columbine High School shootings occuned in April 1999 at Columbine High School in Colorado. Two 
shooters, in a planned attack, killed a number of students and a teacher and injured others. 
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A docwnent written showing the prerequisites for a mass murder spreadsheet 
A spreadsheet listing mass murders by name and infmmation about the incident 
Materials regarding the topic of pedophilia and advocating for rights for pedophiles (not 
child pomography)42 

Large amount of materials relating to Columbine shootings and documents on mass 
murders 
Large amount of materials on firearms 
Comedy videos 
Music 
hnages of hamsters 
Images of Lego creations 

36 YOGANANDA STREET, NEWTOWN, CT- AUTOPSY INFORMATION 

The OCME performed an autopsy on the body of Nancy Lanza, age 52, on December 16, 2012, 
at the OCME. The cause of death was detetmined to be multiple gunshots to the head. The 
manner of death was homicide. 

SHOOTER- AUTOPSY INFORMATION 

The autopsy of the shooter was conducted on December 16, 2012, at the OCME. The shooter, 
age 20, was 72 inches tall and weighed 112 potmds. No dmgs were found in the shooter's 
system. The cause of death was detetmined to be a gunshot wound to the head. The manner of 
death was suicide. 

INVESTIGATION TO DETERMINE ACCESSORIES AND/OR CO-CONSPIRATORS 

The investigation sought to determine if the shooter was aided by or had conspired with anyone 
to commit these crimes. As detailed above, none of the persons found in the vicinity of SHES on 
December 14, 2012, played any role in the shootings. Most were attempting to escape the area; 
others were responding to the school after leaming of the shootings. None had any association 
with the shooter. 

Investigators then sought to detetmine if anyone had conspired with or aided the shooter before 
the shootings. To that end, investigators examined social contacts, writings, e-mails, intemet 
blogs, telephone records and his general internet presence. One of the internet blogs on which the 
shooter posted focused on mass shootings and in patticular the Columbine shootings. The 
shooter also exchanged e-mails with others who were interested in the topic of mass shootings. 
None of these commtmications, however, related to SHES or in any way suggested that the 
shooter intended to commit a mass shooting. Thus, the evidence as developed to date, does not 
demonstrate that any of those with whom he communicated conspired with the shooter or 
criminally aided and abetted him in committing the murders on December 14, 2012. 

42 No child pornography was seen on any of the digital media. 
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EVENTS AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION LEADING UP TO DECEMBER 14, 2012 

Recent Background Information 

As of December 14, 2012, the shooter and his mother lived at 36 Yogananda Street. This had 
been the family home for years, although only the shooter and his mother had resided in the 
house for an extended time. 

Both the shooter' s and his mother's bedrooms were on the second floor; the mother occupied the 
master bedroom. 

In November 2012, the mother sought to buy the shooter another computer or parts for a 
computer for the shooter to build one himself. She was concemed about him and said that he 
hadn't gone anywhere in three months and would only communicate with her by e-mail, though 
they were living in the same house. The mother never expressed fear of the shooter, for her own 
safety or that of anyone else. 

The mother said that she had plans to sell her home in Newtown and move to either Washington 
state or North Carolina. She reportedly had told the shooter of this plan and he apparently stated 
that he wanted to move to Washington. The intention was for the shooter to go to a special 
school in Washington or get a computer job in North Carolina. In order to effectuate the move, 
the mother planned to purchase a recreational vehicle (RV) to facilitate the showing and sale of 
the house and the eventual move to another state. The RV would provide the shooter with a place 
to sleep as he would not sleep in a hotel. In fact, during Hurricane Sandy in October 2012, with 
no power in the house, the shooter refused to leave the home and go to a hotel. 

The mother wanted to buy the shooter a CZ 83 pistol for Christmas and had prepared a check for 
that purchase to give the shooter. 

On December 10, 2012, the mother indicated to a friend that the shooter had bumped his head 
badly, there was some bleeding, but he was okay. This appeared to have occurred at 5:30 a.m. 
She then prepared for her trip to New Hampshire and cooked for the shooter before she left, 
leaving him his favorites. 

During the week of December 10, 2012, the shooter's mother was out of town in New 
Hampshire. She anived home Thursday evening December 13, 2012, at approximately 10:00 
p.m. 

As mentioned above, the GPS found in the home, revealed that on Thursday, December 13, 
2012, the device was used. It recorded a trip fiom and back to 36 Yogananda Street with a route 
in the Sandy Hook area of Newtown between 2:09p.m. and 2:32p.m. The GPS did not report 
that the driver drove up to SHES. Presumably this was the shooter driving the black Honda Civic 
as this would have been the only car available to the shooter and it was reportedly his, having 
been purchased for him. 
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General Background Information 

Investigators conducted many interviews with persons who knew the shooter and members of his 
family. As explained above, they did so principally to dete1mine if anyone had conspired with 
the shooter or aided his crimes. But they also sought to asce1tain what might have motivated him 
to murder children and their teachers and his mother. 

The first question was whether the shooter had a reason specifically to target SHES or any 
student, teacher, or employee. No evidence suggests that he did. In fact, as best as can be 
dete1mined, the shooter had no prior contact with anyone in the school that day. And, apart from 
having attended the school as a child, he appears to have had no continuing involvement with 
SHES. 

More generally, those who knew the shooter describe him in contradictory ways. He was 
undoubtedly afflicted with mental health problems; yet despite a fascination with mass shootings 
and firerums, he displayed no aggressive or threatening tendencies. In some contexts he was 
viewed as having above-average intelligence; in others below-average. Some recalled that the 
shooter had been bullied; but others - including many teachers - saw nothing of the smt. With 
some people he could talk with them and be humorous; but mru1y others saw the shooter as 
unemotional, distant, and remote. 

What follows ru·e some observations that investigators developed in attempting to dete1mine the 
shooter's motive. 

Parents 

The shooter's mother and father Peter Lanza had been mruTied to each other. They moved from 
New Hampshire to the Sandy Hook section ofNewtown in 1998. In addition to the shooter, they 
had another son Ryan Lanza, who was four yeru·s older than the shooter.43 In 2001 the shooter's 
pru·ents sepru·ated. The children continued to reside with the mother. The pru·ents subsequently 
divorced. The father remruTied in 2011; the mother never remarried. 

After college, the brother moved out of state. He reached out to the shooter a few times but the 
shooter did not respond. As of December 14, 2012, the older brother had not had contact with the 
shooter since 2010. The brother believed that the shooter ru1d his mother had a close relationship. 
After his older brother left for college, the shooter reportedly became interested in firearms and 
at one point considered joining the militruy. 

Both the shooter's mother and father indicated that the shooter was bullied growing up. The 
father indicated that it was not excessive and concerned his social awkwardness and physical 
gait. As expanded upon in the Education and Mental Health section below, other witnesses did 
not recall the shooter being ove1tly bullied. Nonetheless, the shooter apperu·s to have had few 
friends growing up. 

43 Both the shooter's father and brother cooperated fully with the investigation. 

29 



The shooter's father saw him regularly until he turned 18. They would go hiking, play video 
games and other activities. They went shooting twice. The shooter had a cell phone but never 
used it. Calls all went to voice mail. His father would just e-mail him when he wanted to reach 
him. 

The shooter's relationship with his father deteriorated in the last quruter of2010 and the father 
last saw the shooter in that year. After that the father would reach out to the shooter by mail or 
through e-mails regularly, asking him to join him at vru·ious places for different activities. The 
shooter stopped responding at some point prior to December 2012. 

One witness who knew the shooter in 2011 and 2012 said that he rarely mentioned his father or 
his brother; though he would mention briefly something he did with his father or brother in the 
past. 

While it appears that the shooter 's mother did volunteer at SHES, it was when the shooter was a 
student. There is no indication that she volunteered there in recent yeru·s. 

The mother took care of all of the shooter's needs. The mother indicated that she did not work 
because of her son's condition. She wonied about what would happen to the shooter if anything 
happened to her. 

One witness indicated that the shooter did not have an emotional connection to his mother. 
Recently when his mother asked him if he would feel bad if anything happened to her, he 
replied, "No." Others, however, have indicated that they thought the shooter was close to his 
mother and she was the only person to whom the shooter would talk. 

A person who knew the shooter in 2011 and 2012 said the shooter described his relationship with 
his mother as strained because the shooter said her behavior was not rational. 

The shooter was particulru· about the food that he ate and its anangement on a plate in relation to 
other foods on the plate. Certain types of dishwru·e could not be used for pruticular foods. The 
mother would shop for him and cook to the shooter's specifications, though sometimes he would 
cook for himself. Rep01tedly the shooter did not drink alcohol, take drugs, prescription or 
otherwise, and hated the thought of doing any of those things. 

The mother did the shooter's laundry on a daily basis as the shooter often changed clothing 
dming the day. She was not allowed in the shooter's room, however, even to clean. No one was 
allowed in his room. 

The shooter disliked birthdays, Christmas and holidays. He would not allow his mother to put up 
a Christmas tree. The mother explained it by saying that shooter had no emotions or feelings. 
The mother also got rid of a cat because the shooter did not want it in the house. 
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People Outside the Family 

When the shooter had his hair cut, he did not like to be touched and did not like the sound of 
clippers, so they were not used much. He would sit with his hands in his lap and always look 
down, giving one word answers if the cutter tried to engage him in conversation. 

Those who worked on the property at 36 Yogananda Street never entered the home. They spoke 
with the mother outside in the yard or at the bottom of driveway. They were instmcted never to 
ring the doorbell and to make prior arrangements before using power equipment as her son had 
issues with loud noises. The shooter was observed at times coming and going from the residence. 

There were a number of people who knew the mother over the years, some fairly well, who had 
never met the shooter - although were aware of his existence - and had never been inside her 
residence. 

Shooter's Interests 

Over the years his hobbies included building computers, 44 writing poetry and hiking. The shooter 
worked briefly at a computer repair shop. When he was younger he played the saxophone. The 
shooter had a cell phone but never used it. 

Shooting was a pastime in which the family engaged. Over the years the shooter enjoyed target 
shooting and would go to a range with his brother and mother. The mother had grown up with 
firemms and had a pistol pe1mit. The shooter did not. Both the mother and the shooter took 
National Rifle Association (NRA) safety courses. The mother thought it was good to leam 
responsibility for guns. Both would shoot pistols and rifles at a local range and the shooter was 
described as quiet and polite. 

He played video gan1es often, both solo at home and online. They could be described as both 
violent and non-violent. One person described the shooter as spending the majority of his time 
playing non-violent video games all day, with his favorite at one point being "Super Mario 
Brothers." 

Another said he used the computer to play games online and communicate. Sometimes the 
shooter would not respond to e-mails and be unavailable for a couple of weeks. The shooter 
explained that he was "moping around." The shooter frequently f01matted the hard drive of his 
computer as a way of "staying off the grid" and minimizing his internet trace. 

Initially the shooter did not drive but he eventually got a driver's license and the Honda was 
purchased for him. The shooter was issued a driver's license in July 2010. 

The shooter liked to play a game called "Dance Dance Revolution" (DDR), which is a music 
video game in which the player stands on a platform, watches a video screen and moves his feet 

44 By all accounts the shooter was extremely computer savvy. 
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as directed by the video. A home version of this was seen and photographed in the shooter's 
home.45 Several videos of him playing DDR were found on digital media taken from the home. 

The GPS found in the home and reportedly belonging to the shooter indicated that he regularly 
went to the area of a theater that had a commercial version of the DDR game in the lobby. In 
2011 and up until a month before December 14, 2012, the shooter went to the theater and played 
the game. He went most eve1y Friday through Sunday and played the game for four to ten hours. 

The shooter was specific about the clothes he wore. He typically wore the same clothing when at 
the theater: a grey hoodie and slacks. After a snowstonn in 2011 the shooter was not seen at the 
theater until about Febmary 2012. At that time he seemed more anti-social and no longer played 
DDR with others. 

An acquaintance of the shooter from 2011 to June 2012 said that the shooter and the 
acquaintance played DDR quite a bit. They would play the game and occasionally see a movie. 
They did not play first person shooter games at the theater. 46 The shooter had stamina for DDR 
and never appeared winded tmless really exhausted. 

The acquaintance said the shooter seemed to enjoy nature and mentioned the possibility of going 
hiking more than once. The shooter was capable of laughing, smiling and making jokes, though 
always in a dty fashion. The shooter never mentioned being bullied while growing up. Topics of 
conversation included world and cmTent events, and included chimpanzee society and how they 
interacted. 

In the course of their conversations, the shooter indicated that he had an interest in mass murders 
and serial killing. They never spent a lot of time discussing them, but it would be a topic of 
conversation.47 There were no conversations about weapons or shooting at a gun range. 

Shooter- Education and Mental Health 

The following background information is compiled from a variety of sources and may at times 
appear to be inconsistent. This is a function of the differing perspectives of those interviewed. 
The inf01mation also varied based upon the time period during which the witness knew or 
associated with the shooter or his family. 

The shooter went through the Newtown public school system, though part of seventh grade and 
part of eighth grade were done at St. Rose of Lima School in Newtown. 

45 See the Appendix at page Al 97. 

46 Online first person shooter games that the shooter did play as determined by a search of the digital media in the 
home, "Combat Arms" and "World of Warcraft" were played on the computer using a keyboard to control the 
player. 

47 The shooter also wrote about all of these topics. Other topics of discussion included human nature, perception, 
judgment, morality, lack of control, prejudice, empathy, suicide, mental illness, existential crisis, m-ban exploration 
of abandoned areas, hiking and cookies. 
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While the shooter did attend SHES from 1998 to 2003, the first through fifth grade, he was never 
assigned to the classrooms where the shootings occmTed. The shooter went for walks with his 
family arom1d and near SHES after he had gotten out of the school. The shooter indicated that he 
loved the school and liked to go there. 

According to some, the shooter was more social when he first moved to Connecticut and was 
yollilger. He would attend play groups and pruties. The early school years have him portrayed as 
a nice kid, though sort of withdrawn. He loved music and played saxophone. 

As he got older his condition seemed to worsen, he became more of a loner. As the shooter got 
into the higher grades of middle school, he did not like noise and confusion and began to have 
issues when he had to walk to different classes. As a result, in high school, the shooter was home 
schooled for a period of time. Though not in a mainstream setting, he could sit through a quiet 
lecture. The mother drove the shooter where he needed to go. He did not want to go to events 
with crowds. 

He attended Newtown High School (NHS) with a combination of home schooling, tutoring and 
classes at NHS and Westem Connecticut State University (WCSU). At NHS he was considered a 
special education student. Having enough credits, the shooter graduated from NHS in 2009. He 
continued to take classes at WCSU after high school graduation. 

Various witnesses made the following obsetvations about the shooter through his school years: 

1. In the 2002-2003 school year, when the shooter was in the fifth grade, he was quiet, 
reluctant, ve1y bright and had good ideas regarding creative writing. He wouldn't 
necessarily engage in conversation, but wouldn't ignore one. There was no recollection of 
him being bullied or teased. 

2. The fifth grade was also the year that, related to a class project, the shooter produced the 
"Big Book of Granny" in which the main character has a gun in her cane and shoots 
people. The stmy includes violence against children. There is no indication this was ever 
hru1ded in to the school.48 

3. In the fifth grade the shooter indicated that he did not like spmts, did not think highly of 
himself and believed that eve1yone else in the world dese1ved more than he did. 

4. In intermediate school from 2002-2004 he was a quiet shy boy who participated in class 
and listened. He did not show enthusiasm, extreme happiness or extreme sadness. He was 
neutral. 

5. In the fifth and sixth grades from 2003 to 2004 the shooter participated in concerts at 
school. He was not remembered by the teacher as having been bullied and the shooter had 
at least one fi·iend. 

6. A sixth grade teacher described the shooter as an average student with A's and B's; 
homework was never an issue. The shooter never made houble or distracted others. He 
had fi·iends and was friendly to others. He was a normal child with no oddities and there 
were no repmts of bullying or teasing. 

48 See the Appendix struting at page A220. 
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7. In 2004 while at the intermediate school he was described as respectful and cooperated 
with others. 

8. One person who remembered him from the middle school never saw the shooter bullied. 
9. In seventh grade, a teacher described the shooter as intelligent but not normal, with anti­

social issues. He was quiet, barely spoke and did not want to pruticipate in anything. His 
writing assignments obsessed about battles, destruction ru1d war, fru· more than others his 
age. The level of violence in the writing was disturbing. At the same time, when asked to 
write a poem, he was able to write a beautiful one and presented it in public. 

10. In the ninth and tenth grades the shooter was reclusive, shutting himself in the bedroom 
and playing video games all day. In the upper classes the shooter compiled a jomnal 
instead of attending physical education. 

11. In high school the shooter did not have good social skills. He did not show any signs of 
violence. 

12. In high school the shooter would have "episodes"49 and his mother would be called to the 
school. The episodes would last about fifteen minutes each. There were no signs of 
violence during any of these episodes and the shooter was more likely to be victimized 
than to act in violence against another. 

13. In high school the shooter was not willing to talk much, hru·d to communicate with and 
had poor social skills. He often becan1e withdrawn in a social environment. The shooter 
would have both inclusive class time and leave the class for specialized sessions. 

14. At NHS the shooter was in the "Tech Club" in 2007- 2008. He was remembered in a 
variety of ways including as a quiet person who was smart. He wore the same clothing 
repeatedly and might not speak to you, even if you were talking to him. He was not 
remembered to have been bullied or to have spoken about violence. The advisor looked 
out for him and tried to have him included wherever possible. He was also remembered 
for pulling his sleeves over his hand to touch something. He was not known to be a 
violent kid at all and never spoke of violence. 

15. The shooter had a LAN pruty50 at his home in 2008 with Tech Club members; no 
firerums were seen at the shooter's home. 

16. In tem1s of video games, the shooter liked to play "Phantasy Star Online" (a role playing 
grune), "Paper Mario," "Luigi's Mansion" and "Pikmin." He also liked Japanese 
animated films and television. 

Over the yeru·s from the late 1990s and into the 2000s, the shooter had evaluations of vru·ious 
types, some of which were available to the investigators. In the late 1990s he was described as 
having speech and language needs. At that time he was also being followed medically for seizme 
activities. In preschool his conduct included repetitive behaviors, temper tantnuns, smelling 
things that were not there, excessive hand washing and eating idiosyncrasies. 

In 2005, the shooter was diagnosed with Asperger's Disorder and was described as presenting 
with significant social impairments and extreme ailXiety. It was also noted that he lacked 
empathy and had very rigid thought processes. He had a literal interpretation of written and 

49 What these episodes were was unclear. 

50 This is a party where attendees eat pizza and play video games. 
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verbal material. In the school setting, the shooter had extreme anxiety and discomfort with 
changes, noise, and physical contact with others. 

In 2006 the shooter had an overall IQ in the average range. He had no leaming disability. 
Depending on the psychological test taken he could be average, below average or above average. 
Testing that required the touching of objects could not be done. It was reported that his school 
issues related to his identified emotional and/or Pervasive Developmental Disorder (PDD) 
spectmm behaviors. His high level of anxiety, Asperger's characteristics, Obsessive Compulsive 
Disorder (OCD) concems and sensmy issues all impacted his perfotmance to a significant 
degree, limiting his participation in a general education cuniculum. Tutoring, desensitization and 
medication were recommended. It was suggested that he would benefit by continuing to be eased 
into more regular classroom time and increasing exposure to routine events at school. 

The shooter refused to take suggested medication and did not engage in suggested behavior 
therapies. 

Over the years his mother consistently described the shooter as having Asperger's syndrome. 
She had a number of books in the home on the topic. She also described the shooter as being 
unable to make eye contact, sensitive to light and couldn't stand to be touched. Over time he had 
multiple daily rituals, an inability to touch door knobs,51 repeated hand washing and obsessive 
clothes changing, to the point that his mother was frequently doing laundry. 

In 2006, the shooter's mother noted that there were marked changes to the shooter's behavior 
around the seventh grade. Prior to that, he would ride his bike and do adventurous things such as 
climbing trees or climbing a mountain. He had stopped playing the saxophone. He had been in a 
school band but dropped out. He had withdrawn from playing soccer or baseball which he said 
he did not enjoy. 

It is important to note that it is unknown, what contribution, if any, the shooter' s mental health 
issues made to his attack on SHES. Those mental health professionals who saw him did not see 
anything that would have predicted his fuhue behavior. 

EVIDENCE EXAMINATION 

Electronics 

Examinations of the following seized items were done by the WDMC squad and the Computer 
Crimes and Electronic Evidence Laboratory of the Department of Emergency Setvices and 
Public Protection (DESPP). 

Sony PlayStation 2: An older games history was fmmd. Games located included "Dynasty 
Tactics," "Kingdom Hemts," "Kingdom Hearts 2," "Onimusha," "Dynasty Wan1ors," and "The 
Two Towers." The PlayStation 2 games could not be played with others over the intemet. 

51 This included not opening doors for himself because he did not like touching the door handle or other metal 
objects, often going through a box of tissues a day to avoid the contact. 
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Xbox: A game history for the console and an indication of an Xbox Live user account were 
found. Games found in the gaming history included "Call of Duty 2: Big Red One," "Call of 
Duty: Finest How·," "Dead or Alive 3," "Halo," "Halo 2," "Lego Star Wars," "MechAssault," 
"Mercenaries," "MGS2 Substance," "Panzer Dragoon ORTA," "PSO," "Shenmue II," 
"Spide1man," "Splinter Cell 2," "Splinter Cell-CT," "Star Wars Battlefront," "Star Wars 
Republic Commando," "Tenchu: Reh1m fi:om Darkness," "The Rerum of the King," and 
"Wmms Forts Under Seige." 

It was noted on both of the above items that the gaming history found may not be the complete 
history of those acrually played. No evidence regarding the existence of any accessories or co­
co-conspirators was found. 

Xbox 360: Found to be damaged and inoperable. 

Firearms and Related Evidence 

Of the firerums seized in this case, five ru·e directly involved, fom from SHES and one from 36 
Y ogananda Street. 

History 

All of the firerums below and involved in these cases were legally pmchased by the shooter's 
mother. Additionally, ammunition of the type used in these cases had been purchased by the 
shooter's mother in the past. There is no reason to believe the ammunition used here was 
pmchased by anyone else. The evidence does not show any ammwlition pmchases by the 
shooter. 

The shooter did not have a pennit to carry a pistol, nor had he ever had one. His mother had a 
valid pistol pe1mit. 

A pistol is defined as " ... any firerum having a barrel less than twelve inches."52 Both the Glock 
20, 10 mm and the Sig Sauer P226, 9 mm qualify as pistols. They are firearms and their bruTel 
lengths were less than 12 inches. 

Firearms, Recovered Bullets and Fragments 

Recovered from Shooter's Honda Civic Outside of SHES 

Izhmash Saiga-12, 12 gauge, semiautomatic shotgun: The Izhmash Saiga-12 was found in the 
shooter's Honda Civic that was parked outside SHES. It was tested and fotmd to be operable 
without malfunction. There was no physical evidence indicating this weapon had been fired at 
SHES, i.e., the bullets, bullet fragments and expended shell casings recovered at the scene and 
fi:om the OCME could not have been fired from this weapon. 

52 C.G.S. Sec. 53a-3(18). 
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Recovered from Classroom 10, SHES 

Bushmaster Model XM15-E2S semiautomatic rifle: The Bushmaster rifle was fmmd in 
classroom 10. The Bushmaster was tested and found to be operable without malfunction. All of 
the 5.56 mm shell casings from SHES that were tested were found to have been fired from this 
rifle. All of the bullets and fragments, recovered from SHES and the OCME that were tested, 
with the exception of those mentioned i1mnediately below, are consistent with having been fired 
fi·om the Bushmaster rifle.53 They could not have been fired from the Saiga-12, the Glock 20 or 
the Sig Sauer P226. 

Glock 20, 10 mm, semiautomatic pistol: The Glock 20 was fmmd in classroom 10 near the 
shooter's body. The Glock 20 was tested and found to be operable without malfunction. It was 
found to have fired both of the 10 mm shell casings recovered at SHES. It was consistent with 
having fired the bullet that was recovered fi·om the ceiling of classroom 8 in a location along the 
trajectory of the suicide shot of the shooter in classroom 10. It could have fired the three bullet 
fi·agments recovered from classroom 10. The three fragments together weigh less than one bullet 
and are presumed to have been pmts of the Saine one bullet. Though all lacked sufficient striate 
for a positive identification, all had polygonal rifling consistent with the Glock 20. They could 
not have been fired from the Saiga-12, the Bushmaster or the Sig Sauer P226. 

Sig Sauer P226, 9 mm, semiautomatic pistol: The Sig Sauer P226 was found in classroom 10 on 
the shooter's person. The Sig Sauer P226 was tested and found to be operable without 
malfunction. There was no physical evidence found indicating that this weapon had been fired at 
SHES, i.e. casings, bullets and bullet fragments recovered at the scene and from the OCME 
could not have been fired from this weapon. 

The total weight of the guns and ammunition fi·om the shooter at SHES was 30.47lbs.54 

Recovered from 36 Yogananda Street, Newtown, CT 

Savage Mark II, .22 cal. Long Rifle, bolt action: The Savage Mm·k II rifle was found on the floor 
of the master bedroom nem· the bed where the body of the shooter's mother was found. The rifle 
was found to be operable without malfunction. The rifle was found to have fired the .22 cal. 
casing recovered from the rifle's chaiUber and the three .22 cal. casings found in the master 
bedroom. The rifle also was found to have fired the four bullets recovered during the autopsy of 
the shooter's mother. 

53 "No positive identification could be made to any of the bullet evidence submissions noted ...... in 5.56 mm 
caliber. The physical condition of the bullet jacket sw'faces were severely damaged and corroded. They all lacked 
individual striated marks of sufficient agreement for the identification process. The test fires also exhibited a lack of 
individual striated marks on the bullet sw'face for comparison purposes. This condition can be caused by fouling in 
the baiTel of the rifle and the anummition itself. The Bushmaster rifle cannot be eliminated as having fired the 5.56 
caliber bullet evidence examined," quoting from the 6119/13 Forensic Science Laborat01y report. 

54 See the Appendix at page A 141. 
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Other Testing 

In the course of the investigation swabbings to test for DNA were taken from various pieces of 
evidence in the case, both at Sandy Hook Elementmy School and 36 Yogananda Street. The 
purpose was to detennine if anyone else had actively been involved in the planning or canying 
out of the shootings. These swabbings were tested and compared to known samples in the case 
and no potential accessories or co-conspirators were revealed by the testing. 55 

MISCELLANEOUS INVESTIGATIVE LEADS 

In the course of the investigation, law enforcement personnel received a lm·ge number of contacts 
purpo11ing to provide information on the shootings and the shooter. Tllis applied to both state 
and federal law enforcement. Infmmation that was substantiated and relevant was made pmt of 
the investigation. Other infonnation, after investigation was not substantiated. 

Typically someone would call the CSP and leave a message that they had infmmation relevant to 
the shootings at Sandy Hook Elementmy School. In an abundance of caution, a detective was 
assigned to follow up on eve1y "lead," regardless of its presumed validity. 

Some of the more than forty unsubstantiated leads and information are described below because 
of their nature or mention in investigation documents. 

1. In the December 14, 20 12, 7:25p.m. search wanant for 36 Yogananda Street, paragraphs 
8 and 9 read as follows: 

8. That investigators determined that on 12/ 12/12, an individual logged onto a website 
called 4Chan.com and anonymously posted "I'm going to kill myself on Friday and it 
will make the news. be watching at 9:00 am." That another anonymous individual 
asked "Where at?" The first individual responded "I live in Connecticut, that's as 
much as I' ll say." 

9. That additionally on 12/14/12, a concemed individual in Texas contacted the Hm1ford 
Police Depmtment and reported that her son was playing a video game named 'Call of 
Duty' approximately 20 hours ago. She continued that a gamer with the screen name 
[Ra Wr]i<3EmoGirls (hereinafter "User") stated; "next week or ve1y soon there maybe 
a shooting at my school and other schools so if i die remember me plz ifl don't get on 
for 3-5 not including weeks that means i died and im being 100 percent serious." The 
User then stated: "something might go bad tomorrow this could possibly be my last 
moments alive.-." Finally, User stated, "as far as I know theres a list of ppl that are 
gunna get shot-. I hope I aint on it." 

55 Two of the items examined fi-om outside the building of SHES, one from the shotgun in the shooter' s car and a 
second from 36 Yogananda Street yielded DNA profiles consistent with the DNA profiles of two victims killed in 
SHES, one in each. It is strongly believed that this resulted from an accidental transference as a result of the unique 
circumstances of this case. There is no reason to believe that either victim would ever have come in contact with 
these items. The DESPP is conducting a separate protocol inquiry in an attempt to determine the reason that the 
DNA appears on the items. 
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Both of these leads were immediately investigated by federal law enforcement and found 
to have no validity and no relation to Newtown. 56 

2. A December 14, 2012, search of the Stamford residence of Peter Lanza, the father of the 
shooter, was conducted with the FBI. Some illegal fireworks were seized and seemed. 
After consultation with David I. Cohen, the State's Attorney for the Judicial District of 
Stamford/Norwalk, and based on all of the circumstances involved, this state's attomey 
has decided to exercise his discretion and not prosecute Mr. Lanza for possession of the 
fireworks, which are in no way related to the events of December 14, 2012. 

3. Dick's Sporting Goods - Police received a lead that the shooter had tried to buy 
ammunition at a Dick's Spotting Goods store. Store secmity surveillance videos were 
recovered and reviewed. None of the individuals depicted in the videos appear to be the 
shooter or connected to shooter. 

4. A person called the police indicating that the shooter had tried to rent a room from her 
and indicated he was having problems with his mother. This proved to be tmsubstantiated 
after an investigation. 

5. Some callers indicated that they chatted with the shooter online in postings. These 
postings were determined to be false. 

6. Numerous citizens in Newtown received calls on their telephones with messages left 
saying "I am [the shooter's name] and I am going to kill you." It was detetmined that 
these calls were made from out of state and the investigation is ongoing. Preliminaty 
investigation results establish that the callers were not associated with the shooter. 

7. CSP investigated a lead that the shooter went to Newtown High School before going to 
SHES. In the comse of this investigation one pm·ent refused to let her high school child 
be interviewed by police and related that a friend of the child had told the child they saw 
the shooter in the parking lot before the shooting. A review of Newtown High School 
video did not substantiate tllis claim. 

8. There were reports of the shooter being at SHES on December 12, 2012, that were 
investigated and found not to be substantiated. 

9. A report that a man claimed that while in Oklahoma a woman told him about the planned 
shooting before the shooting occUlTed. Federal law enforcement investigated this and 
found that it could not be nue. 

56 These search warrants were applied for with information that was available at the time. Some of the information 
was later determined to be inaccm-ate. 
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DETERMINATIONS OF CRIMES COMMITTED 

In the comse of his rampage the shooter committed a number of state crimes. The most 
significant are those where lives were taken and people were specifically injmed. 

At Sandy Hook Elementary School, the crime of Mmder under Special Circumstances57 in 
violation of C.G.S. Sec. 53a-54b was committed twenty-six times. Attempted Mmder under 
Special Circun1stances58 in violation of C.G.S. Sees. 53a-49 and 53a-54b was committed twice 
as it relates to the two individuals who were shot and survived. These crimes reflect the killings 
of the children and adults, as well as those physically injmed. 59 The crime of Mmder in 
violation of C.G.S. Sec. 53a-54a was committed by the shooter in killing his mother at 36 
Y ogananda Street. 60 

Also listed are other major crimes committed by the shooter on December 14, 2012.61 

The major felonies62 committed by the shooter in this case are: 

Mmder with Special Circumstances 
Attempted Mmder with Special Circumstances 
Assault in the First Degree63 

57 
Sec. 53a-54b. Murder with special circumstances. A person is guilty of murder with special circumstances who is 

convicted of any of the following: ( 1) .... . . (7) murder of two or more persons at the same time or in the course of a 
single transaction; or (8) mm-der of a person tmder sixteen years of age. 

58 Sec. 53a-49. Criminal attempt: Sufficiency of conduct; renunciation as defense. (a) A person is guilty of an 
attempt to commit a crime if, acting with the kind of mental state required for commission of the crime, he: . . . . .. 
(2) intentionally does or omits to do anything which, tmder the circumstances as he believes them to be, is an act or 
omission constituting a substantial step in a com-se of conduct plarmed to culminate in his c01runission of the crime. 

59 Though state law as to who is a ''victim" in a criminal case is very broad, only those victims mentioned above will 
be discussed. Connecticut defines a "victim of crime" as an individual who suffers direct or tlueatened physical, 
emotional or financial harm as a result of a crime and includes immediate family members of a minor, incompetent 
individual or homicide victim and a person designated by a homicide victim in accordance with section 1-56r. See 
C.G.S. Sec. 1-1k. 

60 
Sec. 53a-54a. Murder. (a) A person is guilty of murder when, with intent to cause the death of another person, he 

causes the death of such person or of a third person or causes a suicide by force, duress or deception; except that in 
any prosecution w1der this subsection, it shall be an affirmative defense that the defendant c01runitted the proscribed 
act or acts tmder the influence of extreme emotional disttu"bance for which there was a reasonable explanation or 
excuse, the reasonableness of which is to be determined from the viewpoint of a person in the defendant's situation 
under the circumstances as tl1e defendant believed them to be, provided nothing contained in this subsection shall 
constitute a defense to a prosecution for, or preclude a conviction of, manslaughter in the first degree or any other 
crime. 

61 The investigation has not discovered any evidence that Nancy Lanza was in any way aware of her son' s plans. 

62 In any given situation, the facts giving rise to the commission of one crime will suffice to meet tl1e elements of 
additional crimes. Here the focus will be on the major crimes committed and not go into every possible felony 
justified by the evidence. 
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Bmglary in the First Degree64 

Risk of Injury to a Minor65 

Possession of a Weapon on School Grounds66 

Carrying a Pistol Without a Pennit,67 

The crimes listed above all require some type of mental state whether it is a specific intent, 
knowledge or a general intent to do the prohibited act. 

The intent to kill for the crime of mmder can be seen in the circumstantial evidence such as the 
type of weapon used, the manner in which it was used, the type of wounds inflicted and the 
events leading to and immediately followin~ the deaths, as well as with the shooter intending the 
natmal consequences of his voluntmy acts.6 

Here the intent is clear from the evidence that the shooter intentionally anned himself heavily, 
drove to SHES, parked in a manner out of direct sight of the :fi:ont door, shot his way into the 
building and immediately killed those who confronted him as well as those in classrooms 8 and 
10. The evidence found at his home on the digital media fwther supp011 his intentions to kill, 
both at the school and with his mother. Fmther the manner in which he killed his mother reflects 
the shooter's intent to kill her. 

63 Sec. 53a-59. Assault in the first degree: Class B felony: Nonsuspendable sentences. (a) A person is guilty of 
assault in the first degree when: (1) With intent to cause serious physical injmy to another person, he causes such 
injtuy to such person or to a third person by means of a deadly weapon or a dangerous instrument; ...... or (5) with 
intent to cause physical injwy to another person, he causes such injtuy to such person or to a third person by means 
of the discharge of a firearm. 

64 Sec. 53a-101. Btll'glruy in the first degree: Class B felony. (a) A person is guilty of burglaty in the first degree 
when (1) such person enters or remains unlawfully in a building with intent to commit a crime therein and is armed 
with explosives or a deadly weapon or dat1gerous instrun1ent, or (2) such person enters or remains Wllawfully in a 
building with intent to commit a crime therein and, in the comse of committing the offense, intentionally, knowingly 
or recklessly inflicts or attempts to inflict bodily injmy on anyone, or ..... 

65 Sec. 53-21. Injwy or risk of injw·y to, or impairing morals of, children. Sale of children. (a) Any person who (1) 
wilfully or unlawfully causes or permits any child w1der the age of sixteen yeru·s to be placed in such a situation that 
the life or limb of such child is endangered, the health of such child is likely to be injtll'ed or the morals of such child 
are likely to be impaired, or does any act likely to impair the health or morals of any such child, or . . . . . . , shall be 
guilty of a class C felony for a violation of subdivision (1) .. .. 

66 Sec. 53a-217b. Possession of a weapon on school grounds: Class D felony. (a) A person is guilty of possession of 
a weapon on school grounds when, knowing that such person is not licensed or privileged to do so, such person 
possesses a firearm or deadly weapon, as defined in section 53a-3 , (1) in or on the real property comprising a public 
or private elementaty or secondaty school, or .. .. 

67 Sec. 29-35. Canying of pistol or revolver without permit prohibited. Exceptions. (a) No person shall cany any 
pistol or revolver upon his or her person, except when such person is within the dwelling house or place of business 
of such person, without a petmit to cany the same issued as provided in section 29-28. 

68 State v. Otto, 305 Conn. 51, 66-67 (20 12). 
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Murder with Special Circwnstances is met both in the killing of the children and in the killing of 
more than one person at the san1e time. 

In this case the shooter's mental status is no defense to his conduct as the evidence shows he 
knew his conduct to be against the law. He had the ability to control his behavior to obtain the 
results he wanted, including his own death. This evidence includes his possession of materials 
related to mass murders, his removal of the GPS from his car, his utilization of ear plugs, the 
damaging ofthe hard drive and waiting for his mother's return from New Hampshire.69 

The existence of an extreme emotional disturbance for which there is a reasonable explanation or 
excuse is also not present in this case. 70 It is clear that the shooter planned his crimes in advance 
and was under no extreme emotional disturbance for which there was a reasonable explanation or 
excuse. 

69 Sec. 53a-13. Lack of capacity due to mental disease or defect as affinnative defense. (a) In any prosecution for an 
offense, it shall be an affinnative defense that the defendant, at the time he committed the proscribed act or acts, 
lacked substantial capacity, as a result of mental disease or defect, either to appreciate the wTongfulness of his 
conduct or to control his conduct within the requirements of the law. 

70 Sec. 53a-54a. Murder. (a) A person is guilty of murder when, ...... with intent to cause the death of another 
person, he causes the death of such person or of a third person or causes a suicide by force, duress or de.ception; 
except that in any prosecution U11der this subsection, it shall be an affirmative defense that the defendant committed 
the proscribed act or acts tmder the influence of extreme emotional disturbance for which there was a reasonable 
explanation or excuse, the reasonableness of which is to be dete1mined from the vie·wpoint of a person in the 
defendant's situation U11der the circumstances as the defendant believed them to be, provided nothing contained in 
this subsection shall constitute a defense to a prosecution for, or preclude a conviction of, manslaughter in the first 
degree or any other crime. 
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CONCLUSION 

With the issuance of this report, the investigation is closed. 7 1 lf additional reliable information, 
related to the exist~nce of others' involvement in the case, comes to the attention of the 
investigators, it is subject to being reopened. I do not anticipate that occurring. As of now, there 
will be no state prosecution of anyone as an accessory or co-conspirator. 

Many people have asked why the shooter did what he did on December 14, 2012. Or, in the 
vemacular of the criminal j ustjce system, "Did he have a motive to do what he did?" This 
investigation, with the substantial infom1ation available, does not establish a conclusive motive. 

\\'hat we do know is that the shooter bad significant mental health issues that, whiJe not affecting 
the criminality of the shooter's mental state for the crimes or his criminal responsibility for them, 
did affect his ability to live a normal life and to interact with others, even those to whom be 
should have been close. Whether this contributed in any way is unknown. The shooter did not 
recognize or help himself deal with those issues. He had a fam.iliarity with and access to fireanns 
and ammunition aod an obsession with mass murders, in particular the Columbine shootings. 

There is no clear ind.ication why Sandy Hook Elementary School was selected, other than 
perhaps its close proximity to the shooter's home. 

What is clear is that on the rooming of December 14, 2012, the shooter intentionall.y committed 
horrendous crimes, murdering 20 children and 6 adults in a matter of moments, with the ability 
and intention of killing even more. He committed these heinous acts after killing his own mother. 
The evidence indicates th.c shooter plaru1ed his actions, :including the taking of his own life. 

lt is equally clear that law enforcement an·ived at Sandy Hook Elementary School within minutes 
of the fust shots bei11g fued . They went into the school to save those inside with the knowledge 
that someone might be waiting to take their lives. It is also clear that the staff of Sandy Hook 
Elementary School acted heroically in trying to protect the children. The combination saved 
many children's lives. 

November 25, 2013 L..cc-:eL ., / ~- /. t-.f' ~ 
Stephen J/Sedensky Til '-_ 
State's Attorney / 
Judicial District ofDanbury 

71 There remain some outstanding reports, retw11s and an evidence examination evaluation to be filed. 
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